FILED

09/17/2024

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0381

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 23-0381

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

VS.

CHRISTOPHER LAPOINTE,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Montana Eighteenth Judicial District Court, Gallatin County, the Honorable Rienne H. McElyea, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

JAMES PARK TAYLOR Attorney at Law P.O. Box 1570 Missoula, MT 59806 Jptaylorlaw@gmail.com (406) 880-6159

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT AND APPELLANT

AUSTIN MILES KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General Appellate Services Bureau P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether DUI convictions from another state can be counted for stacking purposes under §61-8-734 MCA (now § 61-8-1008, MCA) if those states do not include a similar requirement that the offense occur on the ways of the state open to the public.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 12, 2020, the Appellant was charged with one Count of Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol, in violation of MCA §61-8-401 (now §61-8-1002), a fourth or subsequent offense. The Information alleged that on or about July 24, 2020, the Appellant was in actual physical control of a motor vehicle in the parking lot of 2504 West Main, Bozeman, Montana, a way of the state open to the public. DC Doc. 4.

The Appellant's prior convictions, six in all, were all from the State of California. California law does not require the driving proscribed by their DUI statute take place on a public road or area, instead it also applies to any driving that take place on strictly private property. Cal. Veh. Code § 23152.

The Appellant pled guilty to the DUI charge in Gallatin County, but filed a Motion to challenge the application of the California convictions for stacking purposes under §61-8-734 MCA (now § 61-8-1008, MCA). DC Doc. 64. The District Court denied the Motion citing two reasons. First, the District Court held

that the Appellant failed to come forward with evidence that any of his California convictions took place on ways of the state open to the public. DC Doc. 67 at 3. Presumably the District Court meant the opposite of that, namely that he failed to prove he was <u>not</u> on ways of the state open to the public for his California convictions. Second, the District Court relied on this Court's ruling in *State v*. *Pankhurst*, 2022 MT 89, 408 Mont. 309, 509 P.3d 15. The District Court focused on the failure of the Appellant to analyze the similarity of impairment required by the two states. DC Doc. 67 at 3 The Defendant was sentenced to 13 months with the Department of Corrections, to be followed by a 3 year suspended sentence. This appeal followed. DC Doc. 71.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

According to the Affidavit of Probable Cause filed in the District Court, around 9:03 p.m. on July 24, 2020, an employee of Lucky Lil's Casino at 2401 West Main, called to report an intoxicated driver had just left the casino, got into a green Dodge Durango, and drove across Main Street. DC Doc. 1. The intoxicated driver had been refused service at the casino due to his level of intoxication. Two Bozeman Police Officers located the Durango in the parking lot of 2504 West Main Street. They approached the vehicle and knocked on the driver's window. DC Doc. 1, at 2. When the Appellant opened his door the officers smelled the odor of an alcoholic beverage coming from him. When asked for his driver's license he

struggled to take it out of his wallet, and ended up just handing his wallet to one of the officers. The officers noted that the keys to the ignition were in the vehicle. DC Doc. 1, at 2. The Appellant's eyes were bloodshot and watery, and his speech was slurred. The Appellant told the Officers he was waiting for someone to bring him "pot." DC Doc. 1, at 2.

The Appellant did poorly on Standardized Field Sobriety Tests (SFSTs). When asked to do the One Leg Stand, one of the SFSTs, the Appellant replied "I can't even do that sober." The Appellant was read the Preliminary Alcohol Screening Test Advisory. He declined to take the test and was arrested for DUI. At the Gallatin County Detention Center one of the Officers read the Appellant the Implied Consent Advisory. He agreed to provide a breath sample, and the results from the Intoxilyzer 8000 were a breath alcohol of .203. DC Doc. 1, at 2.

The officers also learned that there were other reports of an intoxicated driver, at 8:55 p.m. that same evening, involving the vehicle the Appellant had been driving. The report was that the Appellant was intoxicated in the parking lot of the Hoffbrau, a bar and restaurant in Bozeman. The report was that the Appellant's speech was slurred, that he was somewhat hostile, and could not stand well.

The State charged that the Appellant had prior DUI convictions from California in 1999, 2007, two in 2009, 2010, and 2016. DC Doc. 1, at 2.

On August 29, 2022, the Appellant through Counsel filed a Motion to dismiss the felony enhancement in this matter, alleging that that California convictions were not sufficiently similar to MCA § 61-8-401. Appellant's Counsel argued that the failure of the California statutes to require that the offense occur on the ways of the State open to the public rendered them dissimilar to Montana's DUI law. DC Doc. 42. In its response the State argued that the Motion was untimely, in that it was filed past the Motions deadline set in the Omnibus Order. In the alternative the State argued that the California statute was sufficiently similar to the Montana DUI statute to allow the California convictions to be used for stacking purposes. DC Doc. 44. The State also argued that the requirement that the offense be committed on the ways of the State open to the public was not an essential element of the offense. DC Doc. 44 at 5-8.

The District Court initially denied the Motion of Appellant's Counsel as untimely on October 19, 2022. DC Doc. 47. On October 24, 2022, the Appellant entered an open plea to the one charge of DUI. DC Doc. 50, 53. On January 20, 2023, Appellant's Counsel renewed the Motion to Dismiss the felony enhancement, asserting that it was relevant to the issue of sentencing. DC Doc. 64. The District Court considered the renewed Motion. The Court ruled that the Appellant had failed to conduct a proper analysis of whether the Montana and California statutes were sufficiently similar, and failed to provide factual proof that

the Appellant was on a "way of the state open to the public" for the conduct which occurred in California DC Doc. 67 at 3. Presumably the District Court meant the opposite of that, namely that Appellant failed to prove he was <u>not</u> on ways of the state open to the public for his California convictions. The District Court denied the renewed Motion to Dismiss, finding the two statutes sufficiently similar, relying on this Court's ruling in *State v. Pankhurst*, 2022 MT 89, 408 Mont. 309, 509 P.3d 15. The Defendant was sentenced to 13 months with the Department of Corrections, to be followed by a 3 year suspended sentence. This appeal followed. DC Doc. 71.

A presentence investigation was ordered and completed, and sentencing took place on April 24, 2023. The District Court noted a number of items, including Appellant's ongoing legal difficulties with alcohol, and his initial problems adjusting to alcohol monitoring in this case. In this case the Appellant was first put on alcohol monitoring at the time with a home breath tester called Sober Link. Beginning in October of 2022 the Appellant was placed on 24/7 alcohol monitoring with a SCRAM ankle bracelet at his own cost. Since being placed on that ankle bracelet almost two years ago the record only shows a single alcohol violation by the Appellant, and none since October of 2023. The District Court noted Appellant's gainful employment history, his current full time employment as a plumber, his status as a father, and the District Court's lack of discretion in

Department of Corrections, to be followed by a three year suspended sentence, and a \$5000 fine. D.C. Doc. 71. The Court noted that "The Defendant has had difficulty with his monitoring on the Court's Pretrial Order. He has indicated that he is trying his best to address this addition, but it is what it is. He is much mired into a pretty severe addiction." DC Doc. 71, 76.

The Appellant was released on bail pending appeal, and remains on 24/7 alcohol monitoring. The Appellant currently resides and is employed in Nevada.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review on a motion to dismiss is one this Court reviews *de novo* for correctness, *State v. Barrett*, 2015 MT 303 §6, 381 Mont. 299, 358 P.3d 921. Whether a prior out of state conviction can be used for stacking purposes under Montana law is such an issue. *State v. Krebs*, 2016 MT 288 §7, 385 Mont. 328, 384 P.3d 98.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

§61-8-734, MCA (now § 61-8-1008, MCA) allows the stacking of similar out of state alcohol based DUI offenses to enhance a Montana conviction for a felony DUI prosecution. Appellant has multiple DUI convictions in California. California law, however, does not include an essential element that of Montana's DUI law, that the offense occur on the ways of the state open to the public. The

DUI statutes of the two states are therefore significantly dissimilar. California convictions should not be used to stack against a Montana conviction.

ARGUMENT

I. Driving on the ways of the state open to the public is an essential element of any alcohol based DUI prosecution in Montana

The requirement that drinking and driving only be proscribed if it takes place in a public area has its roots deep in Montana's legislative history. Over 120 years ago, the Montana Legislature passed a statute that prohibited employing anyone from transporting passengers on any public highway if they were "addicted to drunkenness." 1903 Montana Laws, Chapter 44, § 82. As one commentator noted, this preceded the prevalence of automobiles in Montana and was most likely directed at horse drawn carriages and coaches. Rohan, Montana's Legislative Attempt to deal with the Drinking Driver: The 1983 DUI Statutes, 46 Mont. L. Rev. 309, 311 (Vol 2, 1986). From 1955 until 1979 Montana's DUI laws applied on "highways and elsewhere throughout the state." (emphasis added) 1955 Mont. Laws ch. 263, § 22. Montana DUI statutes would therefore have applied throughout the state, even on private property. But when recodification took place in 1979 "enforcement jurisdiction was limited to the highways of this state. This change caused considerable problems in the enforcement of the DUI laws and the prosecution of the drinking driver." Rohan, supra at 316. In response the 1983

Legislature amended the language of our DUI laws and made certain that they extended to the ways of the state open to the public, but not beyond. 1983 Mont. Laws Chapters 659 and 698. Since that time proving that a DUI offense occurs on the ways of the state open to the public has been an essential element of our DUI law. See MCA §61-8-101, §61-8-401 (now repealed), §61-8-1002. A jury must determine that the proscribed conduct has taken place on a way of the state open to the public. MCJI 10-102(a) (2022). The only exception to this requirement under Montana law relates to subsections of the statute that prohibit impairment due to drug usage, allegations that are not at issue in this case. See §§61-8-401 (b), (c), and (d), MCA. Impairment under these subsections is not subject to the "ways of the state open to the public" element. Appellant was not charged under any of those subsections in this case.

Because of the requirement that an alcohol based DUI take place on the ways of the state open to the public, the Court has reviewed many situations to determine whether the conduct at issue occurred in a way of the state open to the public.

State v. Weis, 285 Mont. 41, 945 P.2d 900, 54 Mont. St. Rep. 1034 (1997)

(privately owned and maintained road was a way of the state open to the public);

Santee v. Department of Justice, Motor Vehicle Div., 267 Mont. 304, 883 P.2d 829, (1994) (bank parking lot was a way of the state open to the public); Billings v.

Peete, 224 Mont. 158, 729 P.2d 1268 (1986) (parking garage was a way of the

state open to the public). *City of Whitefish v. Large*, 2003 MT 322, 318 Mont. 310, 80 P.3d 427 (2003) (carport adjacent to a condominium was a way of the state open to the public), *State v. Taylor*, 203 Mont. 284, 661 P.2d 33 (1983) (borrow pit adjacent to a public roadway was part of the ways of the state open to the public).

II. The prior decisions of this Court about whether the DUI statutes of other states are sufficiently similar to Montana's alcohol based DUI statutes for stacking purposes are not determinative of the issue now before the Court

This Court has reviewed the statutes of many states to determine whether they are sufficiently similar to Montana DUI to allow them to be used for stacking purposes, including:

- Colorado, State v. McNally, 2002 MT 160, 310 Mont. 396, 50 P.3d 1080
- Washington, State v. Hall, 2004 MT 106, 321 Mont. 78, 88 P.3d 1273
- Idaho, State v. Young, 2012 MT 251, 366 Mont. 527, 289 P.3d 110
- Nevada, State v. Calvert, 2013 MT 374, 373 Mont. 152, 316 P.3d 173
- South Dakota, State v. Cleary, 2012 MT 113, 365 Mont. 142, 278 P.3d 1020
- Texas, State v. Olson, 2017 MT 101, 387 Mont. 318, 400 P.3d 214
- Alaska, State v. Lund, 2020 MT 53, 399 Mont. 159, 458 P.3d 1043
- North Dakota, State v. Pankhurst, 2022 MT 89, 408 Mont. 309, 509 P.3d 15

• and California, *State v. Polaski*, 2005 MT 13, 325 Mont. 351, 106 P.3d 538¹ These cases only provide the most general framework to analyze the issue raised by this case,² because none of these cases directly address the issue presented by this case. Instead these cases all focus on another legal issue; whether the DUI statutes of the various states require lesser proof of impairment than the Montana statute. A brief review of those cases buttresses this conclusion.

The discussion begins with *State v. McNally*, 2002 MT 160, 310 Mont. 396, 50 P.3d 1080. *McNally* was the first Montana case to find the DUI statute of another state to be so dissimilar that it could not be used for stacking purposes under Montana law. In *McNally*, the defendant had four prior convictions for a Colorado offense called DWAI (Driving While Ability Impaired), an offense for which Montana has no direct analogue. For a DWAI offense, Colorado only required proof that the person's ability to drive had been affected by alcohol or drugs "to the slightest degree." *McNally*, 2002 MT 16 ¶10 (Court's emphasis). The Court noted that the standard in Montana was whether a driver's ability to

_

¹ The Court has considered whether Georgia's statute is sufficiently similar to Montana's DUI provisions, however, that case was not designated for publication. *State v. Farr*, 2017 MT 200N, 389 Mont. 542, 400 P.3d 242

² The Court has considered at least two cases in which it concluded that tribal court convictions could be used for stacking purposes. *State v. Spotted Eagle*, 2003 MT 172, 316 Mont. 370, 71 P.3d 1239 (tribal conviction from Blackfeet Tribal Court); *State v. Walker*, 2007 MT 34, 336 Mont. 56, 153 P.3d 614 (tribal conviction from Fort Belknap Tribal Court). In those cases this Court reviewed the issue of the lack of counsel in tribal court DUI proceedings. In neither case did this Court review the similarity of the Tribal DUI statutes to Montana's DUI statutes.

drive had been "diminished," noting that the Legislature had considered and rejected the lower standard of impairment in the "slightest degree" when the statute was amended in 1987. *McNally*, 2002 MT 16 ¶21. This Court found that the standard of impairment needed in Colorado for a DWAI offense was therefore a lower standard than that under MCA §61-8-734(1)(a), and disallowed the Colorado DWAI convictions for Montana stacking purposes. *McNally*, 2002 MT 16 ¶23. *McNally* did not address the issue of whether another state's statute had to contain the "ways of the state open to the public" language found in Montana law. It only looked to the standard of impairment required.

In *State v. Hall*, 2004 MT 106, 321 Mont. 78, 88 P.3d 1273, this Court reviewed the Washington DUI statutes to determine whether they could be used for stacking purposes under § 61-8-734(1)(a). Among other issues Hall raised was Washington's standard of culpability for a DUI. Hall relied on a Washington Court of Appeals ruling in which that Court approved a jury instruction that stated "A person is deemed to be under the influence or affected by intoxicating liquor if such person's ability to handle a motor vehicle is lessened in any appreciable degree." *Hall*, 2004 MT 106 ¶21. Hall claimed that this language would violate the principle set forth in this Court in *McNally*. Hall also claimed it would be inappropriate to consider his Washington convictions as that state combined it's DUI and Per Se statutes into one. This Court ruled against both arguments by Hall.

As to the *McNally* issue, the Court found the Washington statutory scheme analogous to that in Montana, and not like the DWAI statute in Colorado. *Hall*, 2004 MT 106 ¶21. This Court went on to hold:

While we do not necessarily know which subsection of Wash. Rev. Code § 46.61.502 the defendant violated, whether it was the regular DWI or the per se aspect, see, e.g., *Franco*, 639 P.2d at 1324 (the jury need only be unanimous as to guilt of the overall offense but need not be unanimous as to guilt of a particular subsection), it is nonetheless certain that a person convicted of violating Wash. Rev. Code § 46.61.502 committed an offense for which each sub-section has an analogous statute in Montana.

State v. Hall, 2004 MT 106 ¶22

State v. Hall did not address the issue of whether another state's statute had to contain the "ways of the state open to the public" language found in Montana law.

In *State v. Young*, 2012 MT 251, 366 Mont. 527, 289 P.3d 110, the defendant had prior DUI convictions in Idaho. Young argued that the Idaho DUI statutes were not sufficiently similar to allow for stacking under § 61-8-734(1)(a), MCA. Although the two statutes have mostly similar wording, Idaho does not statutorily define the quantum of impairment necessary. It simply states that the driver must be under the influence of alcohol or drugs. Young argued that the Idaho Court of Appeals had interpreted the phrase "under the influence" as "impairment of driving ability to the slightest degree," thus violating the Court's rationale in refusing to honor Colorado DWAI convictions for stacking purposes as set forth in *McNally*. *Young*, 2012 MT 251¶14. The *Young* Court disagreed for two reasons. First, as

noted above *McNally* involved a Colorado conviction that has no direct analogue under Montana law. Second, and more importantly, this Court noted that the Idaho Supreme Court had issued a new ruling with a different interpretation of the legal standard for impairment.

In addition, the day after the Idaho Court of Appeals handed down its decision in *Schmoll*, the Supreme Court of Idaho (Idaho's highest court) held that "[i]n order to be 'under the influence,' a person need only have consumed sufficient alcohol and drugs or other intoxicating substances 'to such extent as to influence or affect his driving of the motor vehicle." *State v. Oliver*, 144 Idaho 722, 170 P.3d 387, 389 (Idaho 2007) (citing *State v. Glanzman*, 69 Idaho 46, 202 P.2d 407, 408 (Idaho 1949); *State v. Gleason*, 123 Idaho 62, 844 P.2d 691 (Idaho 1992).

Therefore, the Idaho Supreme Court's definition of "under the influence" is essentially the same as Montana's definition with its "diminished" standard. Both require more than just drinking and driving; they require the consumption of alcohol or drugs to affect a person's ability to drive. Consequently, we conclude that the consumption of sufficient alcohol or drugs to influence or affect a person's driving is not a lesser standard than if, as a result of consuming alcohol or drugs, a person's ability to safely operate a motor vehicle has been diminished.

State v. Young, 2012 MT 251¶17-18

State v. Young did not address the issue of whether another state's statute had to contain the "ways of the state open to the public" language found in Montana law. It only looked to the standard of impairment required. ³

stacking purposes under \S 61-8-734(1)(a). Barrett, 2015 MT 303 13 \P

³ In *State v. Barrett*, 2015 MT 303, 381 Mont. 299, 358 P.3d 921, this Court again reviewed the Idaho DUI statute but only about an unrelated issue, whether Idaho's denomination of Barrett's 3rd DUI to a 2nd DUI under a plea bargain required Montana to ignore one of Barrett's three DUI convictions. This Court concluded that all three of his convictions should be counted for

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