# FILED

01/29/2025

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 23-0381

#### STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

#### CHRISTOPHER LAPOINTE,

Defendant and Appellant.

## **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

On Appeal from the Montana Eighteenth Judicial District Court, Gallatin County, The Honorable Rienne H. McElyea, Presiding

## **APPEARANCES:**

AUSTIN KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General CARRIE GARBER Assistant Attorney General 215 North Sanders P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401 Phone: 406-444-2026 carrie.garber@mt.gov

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Under Mont. Code Ann.<sup>2</sup> § 61-8-734(1)(a), a conviction from another state for violating a statute similar to one of Montana's DUI statutes is included for "the purpose of determining the number of convictions for prior offenses." The other state's DUI statute is not required to be identical or the same; it need only be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> All references are to the 2019 version of Mont. Code. Ann.

similar. In California, the "place of offense," where a DUI can occur, is "upon the highways and elsewhere throughout the State" of California. (Cal. Veh. Code  $\S$  23100.) The "place of offense" for DUIs under Mont. Code Ann.  $\S$  61-8-401(1)(b), (c) and (d), is anywhere "within this state," nearly identical to California's statute. Only one type of DUI in Montana, one involving only alcohol under  $\S$  -401(1)(a), defines the "place of offense" as "upon the ways of this state open to the public." For decades, Montana has stacked convictions under  $\S$  -401(1)(a) that occur "upon the ways of this state open to the public" with convictions under  $\S$  -401(1)(b), (c) and (d) that occur anywhere "within this state," which is prima facie evidence that the two "places of offense" are similar under Mont. Code Ann.  $\S$  61-8-734(1)(a).

To the extent that Lapointe argues the "place of offense" element for alcohol-only DUIs in the California and Montana statutes is dissimilar, when considering differing language from other states regarding other elements of DUI, such as impairment, this Court has always focused its consideration on whether a defendant in another state can be convicted on a standard of lesser culpability. Because California extends the "place of offense" for alcohol-only DUIs to the highways or elsewhere throughout the state, including public roadways, and Montana limits the "place of offense" for alcohol-only DUIs to the ways of this state open to the public, the California statute creates a standard of culpability that

is greater than the Montana statute. In any event, a defendant can be convicted of a DUI by driving impaired on the public roadways of both states.

But, even if this Court disagrees that California provides for greater culpability, Lapointe does not challenge the validity of any of his California convictions of which the State gave him notice. Instead, he asks for those convictions to have no bearing on his current DUI conviction in Montana because *maybe* the "place of offense" where he committed all six of his DUIs in California was exclusively on private property. If, in fact, this was true for each of his offenses and subsequent convictions, then Lapointe is in the best position to have that information. Common sense dictates that it is highly unlikely each of Lapointe's California offenses occurred exclusively on private property because, even if he was arrested on private property, he undoubtedly traveled on public roadways to get there.

For Montana's alcohol-only DUI "place of offense" element—upon the ways of this state open to the public—this Court should adopt the rationale of other states and hold that when a defendant challenges this element of a prior out-of-state conviction as dissimilar, and thereby argues against counting the prior conviction under Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-734, the defendant must present reliable evidence that those prior offenses occurred exclusively on private property, i.e., some place other than the ways of the state that are open to the public, thereby establishing that

the defendant could not have been convicted in Montana. Otherwise, the vast majority of out-of-state convictions would not count for enhancement purposes because in most states the "place of offense" for a DUI can be anywhere, although common sense dictates that most DUIs occur on public roadways.

#### ARGUMENT

## I. Standard of review

"Whether a prior conviction may be used for sentence enhancement is generally a question of law." *State* v. *Maine*, 2011 MT 90, ¶ 12, 360 Mont. 182, 255 P.3d 64. "Whether a prior conviction may be used to enhance a criminal sentence is an issue of law we review de novo for correctness." *State v. Pankhurst*, 2022 MT 89, ¶ 4, 408 Mont. 309, 509 P.3d 15 (citing *State v. Lund*, 2020 MT 53, ¶ 6, 399 Mont. 159, 458 P.3d 1043, and *State v. Krebs*, 2016 MT 288, ¶ 7, 385 Mont. 328, 384 P.3d 98). "A defendant who seeks to challenge the use of a prior conviction for sentence enhancement must overcome a 'presumption of regularity' that attaches to prior convictions." *State v. Sirles*, 2010 MT 88, ¶ 25, 356 Mont. 133, 231 P.3d 1089.

///

# II. The district court correctly denied Lapointe's motion to ignore his six prior DUI convictions in California and to treat his DUI in Montana as a misdemeanor first offense.

#### A. Introduction

Lapointe does not dispute that he has six prior valid convictions for the offense of DUI that he committed in California. He argues that because California's DUI law does not include as "an essential element of any alcohol based DUI" that the offense must occur "on the ways of the state open to the public" as is required under Montana law, this makes the DUI statutes of the two states "significantly dissimilar" and precludes his California convictions from enhancing the sentence for the DUI he admits he committed in Montana. (Appellant's Br. at 6-7).

This Court held in *State v. Calvert*, 2013 MT 374, ¶ 8, 373 Mont. 152, 316 P.3d 173 (citing *State v. Polaski*, 2005 MT 13, ¶¶ 16-17, 325 Mont. 351, 106 P.3d 538), that "[i]n evaluating whether another state's statutes are similar to Montana's statutes, we compare the statutes in effect at the time the offense was committed." Lapointe admitted he committed the offense of DUI in Montana on June 24, 2020. On that date, the 2019 version of the Montana Code Annotated was in effect.

Montana Code Annotated § 61-8-734(1)(a) plainly states that "[f]or the purpose of determining the number of convictions for prior [DUI] offenses," a

conviction includes a "conviction for a violation of a *similar statute or regulation* in another state[.]" (Emphasis added.) Section -734(1)(a) does not require the other state's statute or regulation to be the same, identical, or equivalent. The Legislature did not define the word "similar," therefore this Court "reasonably and logically [will] give words their usual and ordinary meaning." *State v. Levine*, 2024 MT 169, ¶ 15, 417 Mont. 410, 553 P.3d 416. The American Heritage Dictionary (https://ahdictionary.com) defines the word "similar" as an adjective meaning "[h]aving a resemblance in appearance or nature; alike though not identical." Dictionary.com (https://www.dictionary.com) defines it as "having a likeness or resemblance, especially in a general way[.]"

Importantly, the Montana Legislature did not preface the word "similar" with a descriptive adverb such as "substantially" or "significantly" to qualify the level of similarity required, as a number of other states have done. See, for example, the following states' stacking statutes (with emphases added): D.C. Code § 50-2206.01(17) ("Prior offense' means any guilty plea or verdict . . . or a disposition in another jurisdiction for a *substantially similar* offense[.]"); Conn. Gen. Stat. § 14-227a(g)("conviction in any other state of any offense the essential elements of which are determined by the court to be *substantially the same*"); Idaho Code § 18-8005(6) ("any *substantially conforming* foreign criminal violation"); MCLS § 257.625(25)(b) ("'Prior conviction' means a conviction for any . . . law of another state *substantially corresponding* to the law of this state[.]"); N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-4.01(24)(d) ("[a]n offense committed in another jurisdiction which prohibits *substantially similar* conduct prohibited by the offenses in this subsection"); and 75 Pa. Cons. Stat. Ann. § 3806(a)(3) ("an offense *substantially similar* to an offense under [Pennsylvania law] in another jurisdiction").

# B. The Montana and California DUI statutes are similar.

To determine under Mont. Code. Ann. § 61-8-734(1) whether the Montana and California statutes for the offense of DUI are similar, the Court in *Calvert* held that "[i]t matters not whether another state organizes its statutes differently than Montana, so long as they contain analogous provisions." *Calvert*, ¶ 8 (citing *State v. Hall*, 2004 MT 106, ¶ 20, 321 Mont. 78, 88 P.3d 1273). Montana Code Annotated § 61- 8-401(1) defines the offense of DUI as follows:

It is unlawful and punishable, as provided in 61-8-442, 61-8-714, and 61-8-731 through 61-8-734, for a person who is under the influence of:

(a) *alcohol* to drive or be in actual physical control of a vehicle *upon the ways of this state open to the public*;

(b) a *dangerous drug* to drive or be in actual physical control of a vehicle *within this state*;

(c) *any other drug* to drive or be in actual physical control of a vehicle *within this state*; or

///

(d) *alcohol and any dangerous or other drug* to drive or be in actual physical control of a vehicle *within this state*.

(Emphasis added.)

It is important to note that each subsection of Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-

401(1) defines a separate DUI offense, which can be better compared with another

state's DUI laws by charting them out as follows:

It is unlawful and punishable for a person to drive or be in actual physical control of a vehicle		
<ul> <li>EITHER:</li></ul>	<ul> <li>OR:</li></ul>	
upon the ways of this state open to the	within this state while	
public while	under the influence of: <li>a dangerous drug;</li> <li>any other drug; or</li> <li>alcohol and any dangerous or other</li>	
under the influence of: <li>Alcohol;</li>	drug.	

As demonstrated by the chart, Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-401(1), defines the "place

of offense" for alcohol-only DUIs as "upon the ways of this state open to the

public" and defines the "place of offense" for the three other types of DUI as

"within this state."

///

On the date of Lapointe's current offense, the version of the California statute defining the offense of DUI, Cal. Veh. Code § 23152, had been in effect since January 1, 2017.<sup>3</sup> California Vehicle Code § 23152 defined California's DUI-related offenses in relevant part as follows:

(a) It is unlawful for a person who is under the influence of any alcoholic beverage to drive a vehicle.

(b) It is unlawful for a person who has 0.08 percent or more, by weight, of alcohol in his or her blood to drive a vehicle.

. . . .

(f) It is unlawful for a person who is under the influence of any drug to drive a vehicle.

(g) It is unlawful for a person who is under the combined influence of any alcoholic beverage and drug to drive a vehicle.

Nowhere in the body of California's DUI statute is a "place of offense" specified;

however, Cal. Veh. Code § 23100 provides: "The provisions of this chapter apply

to vehicles upon the highways and elsewhere throughout the State unless expressly

provided otherwise." (Emphasis added.) Because a "way of the state open to the

public" falls within California's definition, a person can be convicted in both

Montana and California for a DUI occurring on a public roadway.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The general rule for the effective dates of California statutes is found in California Constitution Art. IV, § (9)(c)(1), which provides that unless a bill calls an election, contains an urgency clause, or is a budget-related or tax levy measure, the effective date of a new statute is January 1 of the following year.

Like the applicability provisions of Cal. Veh. Code § 23100, Montana's

applicability provisions can be found at Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-101(2), which

provides:

The provisions of this chapter relating to the operation of vehicles refer exclusively to the operation of vehicles upon highways except:

(a) where a different place is specifically referred to in a given section;

(b) the provisions of 61-8-301 and 61-8-401(1)(b), (1)(c), and (2), with regard to operating a vehicle while under the influence of drugs, *apply anywhere within this state*;

(c) the provisions of 61-8-301 and 61-8-401 except subsections (1)(b), (1)(c), and (2) thereof, 61-8-402 through 61-8-405, and 61-8-465, with regard to operating a vehicle while under the influence of alcohol, *apply upon all ways of this state open to the public*.

(Emphasis added.) Subsection (d) of Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-401(1)-regarding a

DUI involving the combination of alcohol and drugs-is absent from Mont. Code

Ann. § 61-8-101(2), but the "place of offense" is expressly defined in the body of

§ -401(1)(d) as "within this state."

Lapointe argues that, "[f]or stacking purposes under § 61-8-734, MCA . . . this Court should only recognize the law of states that limit the applicability of their alcohol based DUI laws to ways of the state open to the public, or equivalent language." (Appellant's Br. at 21.) Lapointe's argument overlooks that in 2019, and for decades beforehand, only one of the four types of DUI defined under Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-401(1)—the alcohol-only DUI under subsection (a)—defined

the "place of offense" as "upon the ways of this state open to the public." Like California's use of the phrase "upon the highways and elsewhere throughout the [s]tate," the three other types of DUI under Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-401(1)(b), (c), and (d) define the "place of offense" as "within this state," more precisely defined at Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-101(2)(b) as "*anywhere* within this state." (Emphasis added.)

Notably, the Montana Legislature at Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-734(1)(b) (2019) expressly included *all* DUI convictions under § -401—regardless of the subsection and associated "place of offense"—for purposes of stacking under § -734(1)(a). This is prima facie evidence that the Montana Legislature considers all of the DUIs under § -401(1) to be similar.

C. This Court has excluded from stacking those out-of-state convictions for DUI offenses where a person can be convicted on a standard based on lesser culpability, whereas a person in California can be convicted on a standard based on greater culpability.

Lapointe argues that the prior decisions of this Court addressing whether another state's DUI law is similar to Montana's DUI law for purposes of sentence enhancement under Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-734, "are not determinative of the issue" in this case because those "cases all focus on another legal issue: whether the DUI statutes of the various states require lesser proof of impairment than the Montana statute." (Appellant's Br. at 9-10.) However, the concern the Court expressed when comparing impairment levels is equally applicable to other elements. For example, in *Polaski*, ¶ 22, the Court held "that if another state's law allows a person to be convicted using a lesser standard than would be required in Montana for a conviction, the statutes are not similar for purposes of § 61-8-734(1)(a), MCA."

The Court in *Polaski* compared the Montana DUI statute's use of the word "diminished" with the California DUI statute's use of the phrase "impaired to an *appreciable* degree," and concluded that California's standard was "not a lesser standard but rather would be a standard equal to or greater than" Montana's standard. *Id.* (emphasis in original). As such, the Court held that "California's and Montana's [DUI] statutes are sufficiently similar for purposes of § 61-8-734(1)(a), MCA (2001)." *Id.* Important to the instant case, the Court explained that "[a]s a result of a similar standard in both California and Montana, Polaski could have been convicted in Montana in 1996, 1997 and 2001, for the same conduct for which he was convicted in California." *Id.* 

By focusing on impairment, Lapointe misses the broader issue of the standard of culpability when applied to the "place of offense" issue. Because California law allows for all DUIs to take place on the highways and elsewhere throughout the state, and Montana law limits alcohol-only DUIs to ways of the state open to the public, California's standard of culpability as to the "place of

offense" is greater than Montana's standard. Thus, there is no concern in the instant case that the district court relied upon out-of-state convictions that were based on statutes providing for lesser culpability than Montana's statutes.

Importantly, drivers in both Montana and California can be convicted of a DUI if the offense occurs on a public roadway. California's standard is equal to or greater than Montana's standard. Even if this Court disagrees, Lapointe still cannot prevail.

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